IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case Number: SCO2-1342 Lower Tribunal: 94-150-CF-2

ANTHONY FLOYD WAINWRIGHT		VS	STATE OF FLORIDA
Appellant			Appellee
	_/		

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

R. Glenn Arnold

Florida Bar Number: 0324868 210-A East Government Street

Pensacola, Florida 32501 Telephone: 850-429-9757

Fax: 850-429-9758

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

NATURE OF THE CASE:

The Appellant has been sentenced to death, among other things, is incarcerated, and this is an appeal from the denial of Appellant's First Amended Post Conviction Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentences, which was filed July 27, 2000. (R-I-3)

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION BELOW:

The Appellant was initially indicted on July 15, 1994, (R-1) as follows: Count One- First Degree Murder, in violation of F.S. 782.04(1)(a); Count Two- Armed Robbery, in violation of F.S. 812.13; Count Three- Armed Kidnapping, in violation of F.S. 775.087; and Count Four- Armed Sexual Battery, in violation of F.S. 794.011(3).

Following trial by jury, verdicts of guilty as charged in the Indictment were returned on May 30, 1995. (R-3652) On June 1, 1995, the jury, following penalty phase, returned a twelve to zero advisory opinion recommending the death sentence as to Count One. Thereafter, and on June 12, 1995, the Trial Court entered its Judgment and Sentence of Death. (R-1170 as written, and R-3776 as read)

The decision on Appellant's Direct Appeal to the Florida Supreme Court is found at Wainwright v. State, 704 So.2d 511 (Fla. 1997), reh. den. (Fla. 1998),

cert. den. 118 S.Ct. 1814, 523 U.S. 1127, 140 L.Ed.2d 952 (1998).

It is noted that Wainwright alleged nine issues on direct appeal (Wainwright, page 513, FN 4): it was argued that the trial court erred by (1) allowing pre-trial statements to be introduced, (2) in allowing the final three DNA loci to be introduced, (3) in allowing the case to be tried jointly with separate juries, (4) in allowing introduction of other crimes (Williams Rule), (5) in removing a juror on the 10th day of trial, (6) in allowing testimony concerning Gayheart routinely picking up her kids, (7) in overlooking the State's failure to establish corpus delicti of sexual assault, (8) in allowing Wainwright's statement about having AIDS, (9) in imposing the mandatory minimum portions of noncapital sentences and retaining jurisdiction.

Following the <u>Huff</u> hearing, and pursuant to the trial court's Amended Order of April 9, 2001, (R-I-34) Wainwright was allowed an evidentiary hearing on Claim Four (trial counsel's ineffectiveness regarding the microphone incident), on Claim Seven (trial counsel's ineffectiveness for not maintaining a proper attorney-client relationship, failing to assure that Wainwright received adequate mental health evaluations, failing to investigate and to present more mitigating evidence), on Claim Ten (Attorney Africano was ineffective in his pretrial representation of Wainwright), on Claim Twelve (trial counsel was ineffective for allowing introduction of codefendant's statements and confessions, regarding admissions made by

Wainwright), on Claim Fourteen (whether trial counsel's illness during trial rendered him ineffective).

Note: Claim One (alleging trial counsel ineffectiveness for failing to preserve for appeal an issue concerning three additional DNA loci being admitted at trial, Claim Two (alleging trial counsel ineffectiveness for failing to preserve issues for appeal pertaining to admissions made by Wainwright), Claim Three (alleging trial counsel ineffectiveness for failing to preserve issues regarding collateral crimes becoming feature of trial), Claims Five, Six, Eight, and Nine (alleging trial counsel ineffectiveness for failure to preserve for appeal issues pertaining to guilt phase instructions, penalty phase instructions, prosecutorial misconduct, and improper aggravators) were all summarily denied at the <u>Huff</u> hearing, (R-I-41 thru 47) and again following the evidentiary hearing. (R-I-107 thru 115)

Following the evidentiary hearing held on January 23, 2002 (R-III-1), the Trial Court directed both counsel to file written arguments as to the claims presented during the evidentiary hearing. (R-III-157) The Trial Court also directed counsel for the Appellant to file a written argument as to the claims previously summarily denied at the <u>Huff</u> hearing, but which were renewed at the commencement of the evidentiary hearing.

Appellant's written argument as to claims denied at the evidentiary hearing

were filed on March 25, 2002. (R-I-48) Appellant's written argument as to claims summarily denied was also filed March 25, 2002. (R-I-66)

Appellant then filed a supplemental argument, with authority attached, for a new trial on April 15, 2002. (R-I-87) The Trial Court never addressed it.

The Appellee filed its written argument on April 15, 2002. (R-I-116)

Thereafter, and on the same day, the Trial Court entered its Order denying any post conviction relief on April 15, 2002. (R-I-107)

The Appellee filed a response to Appellant's supplemental argument on April 24, 2002. (R-I-135)

Notice of Appeal was filed May 8, 2002. (R-I-144)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Trial Court committed error when it summarily denied claims as being procedurally barred, that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to preserve various issues for appeal. The Trial Court also committed error when it denied post conviction relief because the initial lawyer appointed abandoned the defendant, allowing him to make statements to police alone, and denying him an opportunity to plead to a life sentence. Trial counsel was also ineffective for his failure to properly move for mistrial during the guilt phase, and for his failure to present mitigation evidence during the penalty phase, and for admitting the defendant's guilt during the guilt phase trial without the consent of the defendant.

<u>ISSUES</u>

ISSUE ONE: Did the Trial Court commit error by summarily denying

Wainwright's claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing

to preserve for appeal the issue pertaining to three DNA loci?

ISSUE TWO: Did the Trial Court commit error by summarily denying

Wainwright's claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing

to preserve for appeal the issues pertaining to his statements and

admissions?

ISSUE THREE: Did the Trial Court commit error by summarily denying

Wainwright's claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing

to preserve for appeal the issue pertaining to collateral crimes

becoming the feature of the trial?

ISSUE FOUR: Was trial counsel ineffective at trial, for failing to move for

mistrial when a secret microphone was discovered in his jail cell,

and for failing to preserve the matter for appeal?

ISSUE FIVE: Did the Trial Court commit error by summarily denying

Wainwright's claims that trial counsel was ineffective for failing

to preserve for appeal issues pertaining to jury instructions,

prosecutorial misconduct, and improper aggravators?

ISSUE SIX: Was trial counsel ineffective for failing to maintain a proper

attorney-client relationship, failing to investigate, and failing to

present sufficient mitigation during the penalty phase?

ISSUE SEVEN: Was the initial trial counsel ineffective for abandoning

Wainwright, and for failing to properly represent Wainwright

during the initial stages of the arrest and investigation?

ISSUE EIGHT: Was trial counsel ineffective for conceding Wainwright's guilt

without consent, when the co-defendant's statement

incriminating Wainwright was introduced at trial?

ARGUMENT

ISSUE ONE:

DID THE TRIAL COURT COMMIT ERROR BY SUMMARILY DENYING WAINWRIGHT'S CLAIM THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO PRESERVE FOR APPEAL THE ISSUE PERTAINING TO THREE DNA LOCI?

CLAIM ONE

The trial court, at the <u>Huff</u> Hearing held December 14, 2000, first dealt with defendant's claim alleging that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to preserve for appeal the issue concerning three additional DNA loci being admitted at trial. The trial court's ruling following the <u>Huff</u> Hearing, was by Amended Order on April 9, 2001, and was that the claim would be summarily denied because it was procedurally barred, having been raised on appeal. The trial court ruled further that the allegation of ineffectiveness of trial counsel was insufficient to overcome the procedural bar.

In <u>Wainwright v. State</u>, 704 So.2d 511 (Fla. 1998), the Supreme Court, at page 514, considered Wainwright's second claim on appeal, as follows: At the time of trial, the State had provided the defense with three genetic loci of the sperm sample from the back seat of the Bronco. During opening statements, the defense

counsel argued to the jury that the testimony of the State's DNA experts would leave more questions, than answers. Trial counsel further argued that since, under RFLP testing processes there were six or seven probes available for examination, why was the State only presenting evidence of three probes in the case against Wainwright. Counsel further argued that the jury would not hear more from the State's experts, and would only hear evidence of the three genetic loci. Following opening arguments, and at the end of the day, the State told defense counsel that tests revealed three additional genetic loci, making a total of six. Defense counsel later sought to exclude the additional evidence, whereupon the trial court ruled that everybody was on prior notice that the State was continuing with the DNA testings, then denied defense counsel's motion. The trial court further ordered that the defense would have a 24 hour continuance to further prepare. (Wainwright, supra, 514.

The Supreme Court, at page 515, held that the admission of the evidence was within the trial court's discretion. In so holding, the court noted that "Wainwright does not allege that the State deliberately withheld the evidence or committed some other discovery violation, but simply that the State was dilatory in conducting the DNA tests....Defense counsel made no subsequent objection. We find no abuse of discretion." (Wainwright, 515)

On March 20, 1995, a written motion for a continuance was filed by defense counsel. (R-735) The motion asserted that on March 13, 1995, the defense asked the trial court for a continuance of the trial scheduled for March 27th, and at that time informed the trial court that the DNA evidence from the Bronco in question had been sent to the lab in Jacksonville. Further, trial counsel informed the court that as of March 20th, no reports concerning the DNA had been received. Trial counsel further asserted in the motion for continuance, that the State had indicated one of its options to be, cease further DNA testing, and proceed with what they had, which was unacceptable to the defense. (R-737) On March 22, 1995, the motion for continuance was denied. (R-804)

On March 27, 1995, defense counsel filed a motion renewing his motion for continuance, based upon discovery problems associated with the DNA reports. (R-812) Counsel indicated within the motion that State witness Pollock, under oath, testified that he had received the DNA submissions in November, 1994, (R-812) but he had not been requested by the State to begin DNA testing until February, 1995. (R-813) Defense counsel further argued that the DNA testing was not complete, and that of the six probes utilized in the RFLP process, only two had been completed. (R-813) Thereafter, counsel argued that the only reason the DNA testing had not been completed was due to the delay by the prosecution. (R-814)

Counsel concluded by arguing that Wainwright's Constitutional Right to effective counsel was being denied, as well as his ability to confront and cross-examine witnesses. (R-815) The trial court denied the renewed motion for continuance on March 27, 1995. (R-817) The hearing held on trial counsel's motion for continuance is found at R-1481 thru 1503.

On May 24, 1995, defense counsel filed a motion in limine regarding DNA evidence. (R-1092) Within the motion, counsel asserted, among other things, that jury selection began May 16th, and opening statements began at 9:00 am, on May 18th. Counsel argued that his own opening for Wainwright commenced about 10:30 am and concluded at 10:48 am. Counsel further alleged that throughout, from jury selection, up to and prior to opening statements, and thereafter, and not until 4:45 pm, as court was ending, did the State provide him with discovery information concerning the additional DNA evidence. (R-1093) Defense counsel further argued in the motion that, despite his reliance on the prior information, and without knowledge of the new evidence, he had made opening statements (as described previously herein), and at no time did the State object or provide him with information about the new DNA evidence. (R-1093) Thereafter, counsel argued that the State's conduct had essentially denied Wainwright the effective assistance of counsel, and had denied him a fair trial. Counsel argued further that the conduct by

the State was a violation of discovery rules. (R-1094) The trial court denied the motion, and gave counsel a 24-hour continuance, as previously stated. (R-1098)

Defense counsel, as noted by the Supreme Court, did not make any subsequent motion concerning the DNA evidence, nor did trial counsel make any objection at the time the evidence was offered at trial, nor at any other time during trial. In other words, and not withstanding the fact that he had previously asserted in motions and during hearings that the State had improperly delayed discovery, and had failed to properly provide discovery in accord with the Rules, and under the case law, trial counsel failed to preserve the issue for proper appellate review. This was ineffective assistance of counsel.

The issue as to the admissibility of the DNA evidence was considered by the Supreme Court. However, had the issue of prosecutorial misconduct, or the discovery violations by the State, been properly preserved for appeal by trial counsel, the probability is that the defendant would have been granted a new trial.

The Defendant recited the above facts in his Amended Motion for Postconviction Relief, and asserted that Attorney Taylor's failure to preserve the issue
regarding the admissibility of the DNA evidence, and his failure to raise a

Richardson issue, thereby properly preserving it for appeal, was deficient conduct
and denied the Defendant the effective assistance of counsel. These allegations are

not conclusively refuted in the record. Nevertheless, this claim was summarily denied.

In <u>Gaskin v. State</u>, 737 So.2d 509, 516 (Fla. 1999) the Court stated that "Under rule 3.850, a postconviction defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing unless the motion and record conclusively show that the defendant is entitled to no relief....Upon review of a trial court's summary denial of postconviction relief without an evidentiary hearing, we must accept all allegations in the motion as true to the extent they are not conclusively rebutted by the record."

In <u>Bruno v. State</u>, 2001 WL 1547933, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S 803 (Fla. 2001), the Court made the following statements, at 2: "Whereas the main question on direct appeal is whether the trial court erred, the main question in a <u>Strickland</u> claim is whether trial counsel was ineffective. Both claims may arise from the same underlying facts, but the claims themselves are distinct and—of necessity—have different remedies: A claim of trial court error generally can be raised on direct appeal but not in a rule 3.850 motion, and a claim of ineffectiveness generally can be raised in a rule 3.850 motion but not on direct appeal. A defendant thus has little choice: As a rule, he or she can only raise an ineffectiveness claim via a rule 3.850 motion, even if the same underlying facts also supported, or could have supported, a claim of error on direct appeal. Thus, the trial court erred in concluding that

Bruno's claim was procedurally barred." At 5, the Court, while discussing the difference between claims on direct appeal which were denied either due to merit, or which were denied as being barred because they were not preserved, also stated at 5, "If, however, the claim was denied due to counsel's failure to preserve the issue for appellate review, then a postconviction motion would be the proper vehicle to raise such a claim."

In Floyd v. State, 2002 WL 58547, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S75 (Fla. 2002) the Court dealt with similar issues. One of Floyd's claims was that he had asserted within his 3.850 motion a claim that the State had withheld <u>Brady</u> evidence. The trial court summarily denied the motion. The Supreme Court agreed with Floyd, that the trial court erred by not allowing an evidentiary hearing on the claim. The Court concluded that Floyd was entitled to a hearing because the record did not conclusively refute his claim. (Floyd, 3) The same is true in the instant case. Wainwright is entitled to a new trial, alternatively, he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on the issue regarding Taylor's failure to properly raise and to preserve the DNA issue for appeal. Further, his failure to properly raise the issue of prosecutorial misconduct and discovery violations, which would have affected the admissibility of the DNA evidence, was also deficient conduct.

ISSUE TWO:

DID THE TRIAL COURT COMMIT ERROR BY SUMMARILY DENYING WAINWRIGHT'S CLAIM THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO PRESERVE FOR APPEAL THE ISSUE PERTAINING TO HIS STATEMENTS AND ADMISSIONS?

CLAIM TWO

On direct appeal the Supreme Court addressed a claim by Wainwright, which asserted as error the fact that the trial court admitted into evidence his post-arrest statements to police. The Supreme Court's recital of the facts is as follows:

(Wainwright, Page 513) He was arrested in Mississippi and voluntarily returned to Florida. On his return, officers reached an agreement with Wainwright and his lawyer whereby the State would not seek the death penalty if Wainwright met three conditions: (1) He did not contribute to Gayheart's death; (2) he was truthful in his conversations with police; (3) he passed a lie detector test. Pursuant to this agreement, Wainwright made a number of incriminating statements from May 9 to May 20, 1994, and assisted officers in recovering evidence of the crime. When he was transported to the State Attorney's office on May 20, however, he conferred with his lawyer, admitted for the first time that he had sexually assaulted Gayheart, and refused to take the lie detector test. Police had no further contact with Wainwright after that point...

In his Amended Motion for Postconviction Relief, Wainwright asserted, among other things, the following facts: Notwithstanding the fact that the order appointing Attorney Africano was entered by the Court on May 10th, Wainwright

was actually interviewed by police on May 9th, commencing at 7:15pm, and was adjourned at 7:55pm. According to Sheriff Reid's testimony, he and other officers were allowed by Africano to interview Wainwright on May 9th, after Africano spent approximately 45 minutes with Wainwright. (Apparently Africano had been called by the officers to assist Wainwright, but had not been appointed by the Court.) (R-2582) It was during that time that the infamous "plea agreement" was said to have been entered into.

In the Amended Motion, Wainwright also asserts that during the May 9th interview, he made incriminating statements, and on May 10th, the Sheriff contacted Africano, and informed him that officers intended to again speak with Wainwright, and were going on another trip to seek evidence. The attorney was said to have stated that Wainwright had been fully advised of his rights, and wished to cooperate.

Prior to Sheriff Reid's testimony at trial, Attorney Taylor moved to prevent the conversations and statements of Wainwright, made during May 9th, 10th, and 11th, which were later ruled to be part of the performance stage plea agreement, from being introduced. (R-2577)

Following some argument, Sheriff Reid's testimony was proffered outside of the presence of the jury. (R-2581) During that proffered testimony, as alleged in the

Amended Motion, Sheriff Reid testified that while on the May 10th trip, (during the absence of Africano), Wainwright also stated, "We planned to kill her and we didn't want anything to be found, any jewelry to be found on her body." (R-2588)

Sheriff Reid also testified during the proffer, that on May 20th, at the State Attorney's Office, Wainwright admitted to him that he had sex with Gayheart, had raped her, and prior to that time Wainwright had maintained that he in no manner touched Gayheart. (R-2589), (R-2596 thru 2597)

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