#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANTHONY FLOYD WAINWRIGHT,

Appellant,

Case No. SC02-1342

STATE OF FLORIDA,

v.

Appellee,

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR HAMILTON COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CASSANDRA K. DOLGIN

ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL CERTIFIED OUT-OF-STATE BAR MEMBER

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

First, the trial court properly summarily denied the Defendant's ineffective assistance claim based on an alleged failure to preserve an issue concerning late discovery as to DNA results. This issue is procedurally barred because it was raised on direct appeal. Additionally, trial counsel fully raised and preserved the issue. Finally, this Court found the issue to be without merit on direct appeal, so there would be no prejudice even if trial counsel was somehow found deficient.

Second, the trial court properly summarily denied the Defendant's claim that trial counsel was ineffective for not preserving issues involving the Defendant's statements and admissions to the police. However, this issue is also procedurally barred because it was raised on direct appeal. Additionally, trial counsel fully raised and preserved the issue. Finally, this Court found the issue to be without merit on direct appeal so there would be no prejudice even if trial counsel was somehow found deficient.

Third, the trial court properly summarily denied the Defendant's claim that trial counsel was ineffective for not preserving issues involving the introduction of collateral crime evidence at trial. However, as with the first two issues, this issue is procedurally barred because it was raised on direct

appeal. Additionally, trial counsel fully raised and preserved the issue. Finally, this Court found the issue to be without merit on direct appeal so there would be no prejudice even if trial counsel was somehow found deficient.

Fourth, the trial court properly denied the Defendant's claim of ineffective assistance based on trial counsel's handling of an issue involving a microphone in the Defendant's cell. The testimony at the evidentiary hearing and the record demonstrate that trial counsel properly raised, argued and preserved this issue. Moreover, the Defendant failed to demonstrate any prejudice.

Fifth, the Defendant claims that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to preserve several different issues. However, the trial court properly entered a summary denial as to these issues because the grounds were all cognizable on direct appeal, they do not amount to an error which warranted an objection by trial counsel, and the Defendant also failed to show that he was prejudiced by any of the errors.

Sixth, the trial court properly denied the Defendant's claim regarding trial counsel's handling of the penalty phase mitigation. The testimony at the evidentiary hearing established that trial counsel conducted an effective investigation of mitigation, and entered into a reasonable

strategy based on the expert evaluations and the limitations imposed by the Defendant. Thus, the Defendant failed to show deficient performance of counsel or prejudice.

Seventh, the trial court properly denied the Defendant's ineffective assistance of counsel claim as to pre-trial counsel Africano. The testimony at the evidentiary hearing established that Mr. Africano provided adequate representation during plea negotiations and that it was Defendant's own inability to meet the plea conditions which created the problem.

Eighth, the trial court properly found that trial counsel was not ineffective when he introduced a letter written by the co-defendant. The letter was part of the reasonable trial strategy of portraying the co-defendant as a deceitful manipulator who was dominating and controlling the Defendant.

#### **ARGUMENT**

## STANDARD OF PROOF FOR INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

The Defendant's appeal of the denial of his Motion for Post-Conviction Relief consists primarily of ineffective assistance claims. To prove a claim of ineffectiveness, a defendant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient, i.e., "that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed" by the Sixth Amendment. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). A defendant must also demonstrate prejudice, i.e., "that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial." Id. Both parts of this test must be met: "Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction or death sentence resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable." Id.; Gudinas v. State, 816 So.2d 1095, 1101 (Fla. 2002).

There is "a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance."

Id. To meet the first part of the Strickland test, therefore, a defendant has the burden of proving that counsel's representation was unreasonable under prevailing professional norms and that the complained about conduct was not the result of a strategic decision. Id. at 688-689; Schwab v. State, 814

So.2d 402, 408 (Fla. 2002); Cherry v. State, 781 So.2d 1040, 1048 (Fla. 2000), cert. denied, 534 U.S. 878 (2001). Furthermore, "[a]ttorney errors come in an infinite variety and are as likely to be utterly harmless in a particular case as they are to be prejudicial." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693. Therefore, to meet the second part of the Strickland test, a defendant must demonstrate "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id. at 694; Waterhouse v. State, 792 So.2d 1176, 1182 (Fla. 2001).

I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY SUMMARILY DENIED THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF AS TO HIS CLAIM THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN REGARD TO THE ADDITIONAL DNA EVIDENCE PROVIDED AFTER OPENING STATEMENTS.

The Defendant first claims that his trial counsel was ineffective in the way he preserved and argued the issue which arose when the State presented the Defendant with additional discovery evidence after opening statements. The trial court summarily denied this issue because it had been raised on direct appeal and, as such, it is procedurally barred.

As an initial matter, the State would agree and argue that the resolution of this issue on direct appeal functions as a procedural barr to the present claim. The Defendant had the opportunity to fully raise the discovery, suppression issue on direct appeal and, thus, the substance of this claim is now procedurally barred. See Lopez v. Singletary, 634 So.2d 1054, 1056 (Fla. 1993).

However, in addition to this issue being procedurally barred, the Defendant has also failed to show any basis on which trial counsel can be found ineffective. The Defendant argues that trial counsel did not properly preserve the issue and that he failed to raise the issue of prosecutor misconduct or discovery violation. However, trial counsel did properly

preserve the issue through a written motion and extensive argument before the trial court. (R. 1092-1095, 2851-2870).

Furthermore, contrary to the Defendant's contention, trial counsel did argue that the State had committed a discovery violation by turning over the evidence after opening arguments. (R. 1094, para. 11, 2855). In that argument, trial counsel argued that he had been prejudiced by late discovery and that it should be excluded. (R. 2855). Furthermore, this Court reviewed the issue for a discovery violation and found that the trial court's decision to grant a 24 hour continuance was a proper remedy for a discovery violation. Wainwright, 704 So.2d at 515 n.6. Thus, the Defendant is incorrect when he argues that trial counsel was ineffective for not raising a discovery violation as to the late DNA evidence.

In making his argument on appeal, the Defendant seizes upon this Court's words in <u>Wainwright</u> where it said that the Defendant "does not allege that the State deliberately withheld evidence or committed some other discovery violation." <u>Wainwright</u>, 704 So.2d at 515. Based on this statement, the Defendant argues that if trial counsel had argued either prosecutorial misconduct or a discovery violation that the result would have been different on appeal. However, as demonstrated above, trial counsel did argue a discovery

violation and this Court did review the trial court's handling of the issue under Fla.R.Crim.P 3.220(n)(1), which controls discovery violations. Wainwright, 704 So.2d at 514-515. Furthermore, the record on appeal and the arguments made to the trial court do not reveal any prosecutorial misconduct. (R. 2851-2870). In fact, they demonstrate that trial counsel was aware that additional testing was being done and that the results were provided within an hour and half of their receipt by the State Attorney's Office. (R. 2856). Thus, the Defendant's focus on this language fails to demonstrate that trial counsel did not fully raise and preserve this issue.

As set forth in <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 687, the Defendant must prove two separate factors to establish that trial counsel was ineffective. First, the Defendant has to demonstrate that trial counsel's performance was deficient and second, he must prove that the deficiency prejudiced his defense.

The State would contend that the Defendant has failed to show that trial counsel was deficient under the first Strickland requirement. As set forth above, trial counsel fully argued and preserved the issue concerning late disclosure of DNA evidence and, based on the preservation of the issue, this Court fully reviewed the issue on its merits. Accordingly, because trial counsel fully preserved this issue, his performance was that of

a reasonably competent attorney and the Defendant's claim is without merit.

Additionally, the State would also argue that the Defendant cannot demonstrate the prejudice prong of <u>Strickland</u>. Because this Court reviewed the DNA issue on its merits and found no reversible error, and because the Defendant has failed to show that any other steps by trial counsel would have altered this result, the Defendant cannot establish prejudice. Accordingly, the Defendant has failed to establish that his trial counsel was ineffective.

Therefore, based on the fact that this claim is procedurally barred and that the record before this Court conclusively refutes the Defendant's claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, the State would contend that the trial court properly entered a summary denial. Asay v. State, 769 So.2d 974, 982 (Fla. 2000); Freeman v. State, 761 So.2d 1055, 1061 (Fla. 2000).

II. TRIAL COURT DID NOT THE COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN SUMMARILY DENYING DEFENDANT'S CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL COUNSEL AS TO PRESERVATION OF THE ISSUE REGARDING DEFENDANT'S STATEMENTS AND ADMISSIONS.

Next, the Defendant argues that the lower court should not have entered a summary denial of his ineffective assistance of counsel claim based on allegations that trial counsel did not properly preserved an issue revolving around the Defendant's May 10, 11 and 20 statements to Sheriff Reid. The trial court summarily denied this issue because it had been raised on direct appeal and, as such, it is procedurally barred.

As an initial matter, the State would agree and argue that the resolution of this issue on direct appeal functions as a procedural bar to the present claim. The Defendant raised the issue of these statements in the first ground of his appeal. Accordingly, because this issue was fully raised and argued on direct appeal, the substance of this claim is now procedurally barred. See Lopez, 634 So.2d at 1056.

However, even assuming arguendo that the issue is not barred, it was properly denied because the existing record shows it to be wholly without merit. The Defendant argues that trial counsel was not effective because he failed to preserve these issues for appellate review. However, the record rebuts this

assertion.

First, the Defendant did raise this issue and a lengthy hearing was held on it. (R. 2577-2606). Thus, the issue was preserved for appeal. The issue was then raised on appeal. This Court specifically addressed it in detail and found no error. Wainwright, 704 So.2d at 513-514.

Accordingly, the Defendant has failed to show ineffective assistance of trial counsel under each of the two Strickland requirements - deficient performance and prejudice. First, the State would contend that the Defendant has failed to show that trial counsel was deficient under the first Strickland requirement because trial counsel fully raised and preserved the issue through a motion in limine and argument before the trial court. Accordingly, because trial counsel fully preserved this issue, his performance was that of a reasonably competent attorney and the Defendant's claim is without merit.

Second, the State would also argue that the Defendant cannot demonstrate the prejudice prong of <u>Strickland</u>. Because this Court reviewed the admissibility crime issue on its merits and found no reversible error, and because the Defendant has failed to show that any other steps by trial counsel would have altered this result, the Defendant cannot establish prejudice. Accordingly, the Defendant has failed to establish that his

trial counsel was ineffective.

Therefore, based on the fact that the record before this Court conclusively refutes the Defendant's claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel on this issue, the State would contend that the trial court properly entered a summary denial of this issue. Asay, 769 So.2d at 982; Freeman, 761 So.2d at 1061.

III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY SUMMARILY DENIED THE DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE REGARDING THE ISSUE OF COLLATERAL CRIME EVIDENCE BEING INTRODUCED AT TRIAL.

Third, the Defendant argues that the trial court erred in summarily denying his claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel based on the introduction of collateral crime evidence at trial. Specifically, the Defendant argues that trial counsel failed to preserve issues regarding the introduction of the Defendant's crimes in Mississippi and North Carolina. The trial court summarily denied this issue because it had been raised on direct appeal and, as such, it is procedurally barred.

As an initial matter, the State would agree and argue that the resolution of this issue on direct appeal functions as a procedural bar to the present claim. The Defendant raised the issue of the collateral crimes which took place in Mississippi and North Carolina in ground four of his direct appeal. Accordingly, because this issue was fully raised and argued on direct appeal, the substance of this claim is now procedurally barred. See Lopez, 634 So.2d at 1056.

Surprisingly, the Defendant argues that this issue was not raised on direct appeal, and that even if it was, it was not addressed on its merits. These contentions are wholly incorrect. Ground four on appeal concerned "the introduction of

evidence of other crimes". Wainwright, 704 So.2d at 513 n.4. Furthermore, as argued in the Defendant's Initial Brief on direct appeal, "[t]his included everything from the defendant's initial escape from a North Carolina prison on April 24, 1994, until his capture in a shootout with Mississippi police four days later." Initial Brief of Appellant at 32 (Case no. SC86,022). Thus, the issue of the Defendant's crimes in other states was argued on direct appeal.

Moreover, this Court addressed the issue on the merits. The Defendant claims that this Court's opinion in Wainwright only addressed issues (1), (2), (7) and (9). While it is true that this Court only discussed these four claims in detail, this Court specifically noted that it found issues 3-6 and 8 to be without merit. Wainwright, 704 So.2d at 516 n.9. Thus, this Court did not determine that any procedural bar existed as to issue 4. Instead, this Court addressed it on the merits, and found that there was no merit to Defendant's claims of error regarding the introduction of crimes from Mississippi and North Carolina. Therefore, this issue was addressed on direct appeal and is procedurally barred.

However, in addition to this issue being procedurally barred, the Defendant has also failed to show any basis on which trial counsel can be found ineffective. The Defendant argues

that trial counsel did not properly preserve the issue. However, trial counsel did properly preserve the issue through a written motion in limine and extensive argument before the trial court. (R. 694-695, 1406-1428). Trial counsel extensively argued that the evidence regarding the crimes in North Carolina and Mississippi should not be introduced; however, the trial court simply disagreed with his arguments. (R. 1428). The issue was then raised on appeal in Defendant's fourth appellate ground, and it was found to be without merit by this Court.

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